THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

NOV 07 2013

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM OCONEE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Alexander S. Macaulay, Presiding Judge Seventh Judicial Circuit

Appellate Case No.: 2012-213237

Stoneledge At Lake Keowee Owners' Association, Inc., C. Dan Carson, Jeffrey J. Dauler, Joan W. Davenport, Michael Furnari, Donna Furnari, Jessie B. Grasso, Nancy E. Grasso, Robert P. Hayes, Lucy H. Hayes, Ty Hix, Jennifer D. Hix, Paul W. Hund, III, Ruth E. Isaac, Michael D. Plourde, Mary Lou Plourde, Carol C. Pope, Steven B. Taylor, Bettie J. Taylor, and Robert White, Individually, and on behalf of all others similarly situated, Plaintiffs

v.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. DID THE LOWER COURT ERR IN COLLAPSING ALL PLED CROSS-CLAIMS INTO ONE CLAIM FOR EQUITABLE INDEMNIFICATION?

- II. DID THE LOWER COURT ERR IN GRANTING THE MOTIONS FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT FILED BY HUTCH-N-SON CONSTRUCTION, INC. AND UPSTATE UTILITIES, INC. AS TO MARICK HOME BUILDERS, LLC AND RICK THOENNES' CROSS-CLAIMS?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Plaintiffs filed this case in individual and representative capacities, as well as through a Property Owners Association, alleging construction defects at a townhome project in Oconee County known as Stoneledge. Included in Plaintiffs' claims were claims against one of the general contractors affiliated with the project, Marick Home Builders, LLC (hereinafter "Marick"), and claims concerning alleged defective grading against Marick's subcontractor Hutch-N-Son Construction, Inc. (hereinafter "HNS") and a subcontractor hired by HNS, Upstate Utilities, Inc. (hereinafter "Upstate"). As a result of being sued for the alleged defective grading/site work performed by HNS and Upstate, Marick filed cross-claims against all of the subcontractors on the project including HNS and Upstate for indemnity, negligence, breach of contract and breach of warranty.

All of the subcontractors, including HNS and Upstate, filed motions for summary judgment as to Marick's Cross-claims. (R. pp. 334-361.) Arguments were heard all day in the Circuit Court. Notwithstanding Appellants' opposition, the lower court issued an order dated September 24, 2012, granting the motions for summary judgment of HNS and Upstate. (R. pp. 1-9.) The Order was received by Appellants on September 26, 2012 and a Notice of Appeal and Proof of Service was served upon the court and all parties on October 5, 2012.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This case was originally filed May 29th, 2009 by named Plaintiff Paul H. Hund, III, M.D. (hereinafter "Hund"). (R. pp. 10-22.) Hund's complaint alleged, among other things, water intrusion to exterior cladding, improper flashing, improper use of building paper, and inadequate installation of building components in Phase II of the project.

Upon information and belief, Stoneledge Owners Association (hereinafter "SOA") took the position that Dr. Hund's Complaint was improper as the SOA was responsible for the exterior of the units. In November of 2009, the owners voted to retain an attorney to represent the SOA and amend the lawsuit to include the SOA and both Phase I and Phase II of the project.

Dr. Hund amended the complaint to add the SOA and additional individual homeowners as Plaintiffs and included new allegations concerning Phase I of the project. (R. pp. 49-76.) Plaintiffs again alleged, among other things, water intrusion to exterior cladding, improper flashing, improper use of building paper, inadequate installation of building components, improper site work/grading, and undisclosed latent defects.

Stoneledge at Lake Keowee (hereinafter "Stoneledge") is an 80 unit lakefront townhome development located in West Union, South Carolina along the shores of Lake Keowee. Stoneledge was constructed in two separate phases. The general contractor for phase I construction was Bostic Brothers Construction, Inc. (hereinafter "Bostic Brothers"). Following completion of the exterior of all phase I units and completion of a majority of the interiors of all phase I units, Bostic Brothers terminated construction at Stoneledge.

After Bostic Brothers' exit, the remaining unsold units and vacant land was purchased by IMK Development Co., LLC (hereinafter "IMK"). IMK was owned by corporate entities IK and Marick. Once purchased, IMK retained Marick as the general contractor to construct phase II at Stoneledge. Due to Marick's partial ownership of IMK, Plaintiffs' Complaint alleges that Marick was a developer of the project. Plaintiffs have alleged breach of the warranty of habitability among other things, against Marick as a developer.

During construction, Marick subcontracted with HNS to perform grading/site work at the project. HNS then subcontracted with Upstate to assist in performing the grading/site work

at the project. As alleged by Plaintiff and admitted by HNS and Upstate in their affidavits and memorandums to the lower court, there were issues related to the grading at the project. (R. pp. 481-486.)

Plaintiffs hired Construction Science and Engineering (“CSE”) to investigate the conditions at Stoneledge and develop a scope of repair. During work at the project, CSE observed dirt above the proper grade. Marick also retained the services of an expert, Randy Still. As set forth in Marick’s Memorandum in Opposition to HNS’s and Upstate’s Motions for Summary Judgment, Randy Still specifically stated that he did not believe that Marick violated any obligations concerning grading at Stoneledge. (R. pp. 442.)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Rule 56 of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure provides for judgment as a matter of law where “there is no genuine issue as to any material fact.” S.C. R. Civ. P. 56(c). The purpose of summary judgment is to dispose of factually unsupported claims. *Celotex v. Catrett*, 477 U.S. 317, 322 (1986). “Summary judgment is a drastic remedy, which should be cautiously invoked so that no person will be improperly deprived of a trial of the disputed factual issues.” *Thomas Sand Co. v. Colonial Pipeline Co.*, 563 S.E.2d 109, 112 (S.C. Ct. App. 2002). “Summary judgment is appropriate in those cases in which plain, palpable and indisputable facts exist on which reasonable minds cannot differ.” *Tompkins v. Festival Centre Group*, 306 S.C. 193, 410 S.E.2d 593 (Ct. App. 1991).

A trial court should not grant a motion for summary judgment when pleadings, depositions, answer to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with affidavits, if any, show there is a genuine issue as to any material fact. *Vermeer Carolina’s, Inc. v. Wood/Chuck Chipper Corp.*, 336 S.C. 53, 58, 518 S.E.2d 301, 304 (1999) (citations omitted). In

determining whether any triable issue of fact exists, which will preclude summary judgment, the evidence and all inferences which can be reasonably drawn therefrom must be viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. *Id.*

Summary judgment is not appropriate where further inquiry into the facts of the case is desirable to clarify the application of the law. *Vermeer Carolina's, Inc.*, 336 S.C. at 58, 518 S.E.2d at 305. All ambiguities, conclusions, and inferences arising from the evidence must be construed most strongly against the moving party. *Id.* Even when there is no dispute as to evidentiary facts, but only as to the conclusions or inferences to be drawn from them, summary judgment should be denied. *Id.*

If triable issues exist, those issues must go to the jury. *Rothrock v. Copeland*, 305 S.C. 402, 409 S.E.2d 366 (1991).

“In cases applying the preponderance of the evidence burden of proof, the non-moving party is only required to submit a mere scintilla of evidence in order to withstand a motion for summary judgment.” *Hancock v. Mid-South Mgmt. Co., Inc.*, 673 S.E.2d 801, 803 (S.C. 2009); *See: Thomas Sand, Co.*, 563 S.E.2d at 112 (on negligence cause of action, “[a]t the summary judgment stage of the proceedings, it is only necessary for the nonmoving party to submit a scintilla of evidence warranting determination by a jury for summary judgment to be denied.”)

ARGUMENTS

I. The lower court erred in collapsing all of Appellants cross-claims into one claim for equitable indemnification.

The Circuit Court erred in collapsing Appellants’ cross-claims for breach of warranty, breach of contract, and negligence into one claim for equitable indemnification. Appellants believe this is a matter of first impression for South Carolina appellant courts as the lower court cited no binding case law in support of its holding. In support of its holding, the Court cited two

non-binding district court cases (*U.S. Fidelity & Guarantee Co. v. Patriot's Point Development Authority*, 788 F. Supp. 880, 881 (D.S.C. 1992) and *S.C. National Bank v. Stone*, 749 F. Supp. 1419, 1433 (D.S.C. 1990)) and two non-binding unpublished South Carolina circuit court orders (*Nelson v. John Weiland Home*, 2009-CP-10-6573 (Order by Judge Roger M. Young, October 26, 2011) and *Kirkland v. Cambridge Building Corp.*, 2006-CP-07-1312 (Order by Judge Curtis L. Coltrane, May 30, 2006)).

The cases of *U.S. Fidelity & Guarantee Co.* and *S.C. National Bank* are both securities law cases which Appellants assert cannot be properly compared with construction litigation and the general contractor/subcontractor relationship. Additionally, in *U.S. Fidelity & Guarantee Co.*, there was an order in place removing all claims by Plaintiff against the non-settling Defendants which could give rise to the indemnity sought from the settling parties. 788 F. Supp. 880, 883, n. 3. However, in this case, even after settlement with HNS and Upstate, Plaintiffs continue to allege defective site/grading work against Marick. Thus, Marick is required to continue litigating claims associated with HNS's and Upstate's defective work. Marick continues to incur attorney fees and costs associated with HNS's and Upstate's failure to perform duties and breach of contract with Marick. Attorney fees and costs are damages separate from Plaintiffs' alleged damages; thus, Marick's alleged damages are separate from those requested by Plaintiffs.

Appellants assert that the federal court holdings should not be persuasive in this matter. Appellants further assert that the non-binding lower court holdings in *Nelson* and *Kirkland* were erroneous and thus should not be followed by this Court.

Appellants may recover special damages at law under theories of negligence and breach of warranty as to Respondent Upstate and for negligence, breach of warranty and breach of

contract as to Respondent HNS. Appellants' claims for breach of warranty, negligence and breach of contract are not disguised indemnity claims. South Carolina law is well settled that special damages arising from another's wrongful conduct are recoverable at law. South Carolina courts have held:

if the wrongful act of the defendant has involved the plaintiff in litigation with others or placed him in such relation with others as makes it necessary to incur expenses to protect his interest, such expenses should be treated as the legal consequence of the original wrongful act and may be recovered. We further held that recovery may be had at law in the form of special damages, or in equity in the form of equitable indemnity.

Griffin v. Van Norman, 302 S.C. 520, 523, 397 S.E.2d 378, 380 (Ct. App. 1990) citing *Town of Winnsboro v. Wiedeman-Singleton, Inc.*, 303 S.C. 52, 398 S.E.2d 500 (1990) citing *Addy v. Bolton*, 257, S.C. S.E.2d 708 (1971).

In *Addy v. Bolton*, the defendant owner of a building was sued by its tenant when the building caught on fire. The owner of the building then sued the contractor whose negligent work caused the fire. The owner's recovery of fees and costs from the negligent contractor was upheld by the South Carolina Supreme Court, reasoning that "the weight of authority sustains [the building owners] right of recovery, either on the theory of an implied contract to indemnify, or because they were put to the necessity of defending themselves against the claim by the tortious conduct of the contractor, or by his breach of contract." *Addy v. Bolton*, 257 S.C. 28, 33, 183 S.E.2d 708, 710 (1971).

The facts in *Addy* are similar to the facts of this case. Like the building owner in *Addy*, Marick is forced to defend itself from the Plaintiffs' claims arising from the Defendant Subcontractors' tortious conduct (negligent performance of work), breach of warranty (failure to perform work in a workmanlike manner) and breach of contract; thus, Marick properly filed claims for negligence and breach of warranty against Respondent Upstate and for negligence, breach of warranty and breach of contract against Respondent HNS seeking not only "damages

recovered by the Plaintiffs against Marick” but also “reasonable attorney fees and costs” associated with defending the claims. (R. pp. 77-115.) Marick has even better facts than *Addy* for including special damages claims against subcontractors as both HNS and Upstate were sued directly by Plaintiffs for their defective work. Thus, the *Addy* rule, followed in *Griffin* and *Town of Winnsboro*, allows Marick to recover special damages at law under negligence, breach of contract and breach of warranty theories. The attorney fees and costs sought by Marick are separate damages from the damages sought by Plaintiffs; thus, said damages should be recoverable under the separate causes of action pled.

Other jurisdictions have addressed the disguised indemnity issue presently before the Court. The contractual obligations and other duties owed by the subcontractors to Marick constitute separate causes of action which did not arise through Plaintiffs’ relationship to the parties. The Court in *William L. Lyon & Associates, Inc. v. Superior Court*, 204 Cal. App. 4th 1294, 1315, 139 Cal Rptr. 670, 685-686 (2012), held specifically that when a cross-claimant is owed separate contractual obligations and duties from a party, separate causes of action for negligence and breach of contract do not collapse into a single indemnity claim. Marick had a contractual relationship and was owed separate duties by the subcontractors it was overseeing to perform the work at issue in this action; if those subcontractors failed to perform the work they were hired to perform properly, they breached duties and contractual obligations owed to Marick and thus should be liable to Marick.

II. The Circuit Court Erred in Granting HNS’s and Upstate’s Motions for Summary Judgment Concerning Marick’s Crossclaim for Equitable Indemnification.

The lower Court order granted summary judgment in favor of Upstate and HNS as to Marick’s Cross-Claim for equitable indemnification based upon the doctrine of unclean hands. The Court did not find that Marick failed to create a genuine issue of material fact. (R. pp. 1-9.)

Thus, Appellants will address the lower court's finding as a matter of law that Marick has unclean hands in this matter and thus is not entitled to equitable indemnification. Further, in relation to Upstate, the Court erred by holding that Upstate had no special relationship with the general contractor Marick.

A. EQUITABLE INDEMNIFICATION

"Indemnity is that form of compensation in which a first party is liable to pay a second party for a loss or damage the second party incurs to a third party." *First Gen. Services of Charleston, Inc. v. Miller*, 314 S.C. 439, 442, 445 S.E.2d 446, 448 (1994). "The right is created by operation of law 'in cases of imputed fault or where some special relationship exists between the first and second parties.'" *Id.* (Internal citation omitted). "Ordinarily, if one person is compelled to pay damages because of negligence imputed to him as the result of a tort committed by another, he may maintain an action over for indemnity against the person whose wrong has thus been imputed to him; but this is subject to the proviso that no personal negligence of his own has joined in causing the injury." *Addy v. Bolton*, 257 S.C. 28, 34, 183 S.E.2d 708, 710 (1971) (Internal citation omitted).

With equitable indemnification, it does not matter that there is no contractual provision for indemnity. "The very nature of equitable indemnification is that a contract for indemnity is unnecessary." *Winnsboro II*, 307 S.C. at 132, 414 S.E.2d at 121. It is true if a jury finds a party negligent, then as an adjudicated tortfeasor equitable indemnity would not be available. *See* South Carolina Uniform Contribution Among Tortfeasors Act, S.C. Code Ann. §§ 15-38-10 to -70 (Supp.1995). However, if the jury were to find a party not negligent, then the party would be entitled to equitable indemnification. *Griffin v. Van Norman*, 302 S.C. 520, 397 S.E.2d 378 (Ct.App.1990).

We note that the modern trend concerning the right to indemnity is to look to principles of equity. According to equitable principles, a right of indemnity exists whenever the relation between the parties is such that either in law or in equity there is an obligation on one party to indemnify the other, as where one person is exposed to liability by the wrongful act of another in which he does not join.

Jourdan v. Boggs/Vaughn Contracting, Inc., 324 S.C. 309, 312-13, 476 S.E.2d 708, 710 (Ct. App. 1996) (emphasis added).

The South Carolina Supreme Court in *Fields v. J. Haynes Waters Builders, Inc.*, 376 S.C. 545, 561 (2008), held that a general contractor is not automatically responsible for the negligence of a subcontractor.¹ The *Fields*' Court imposed a duty on a general contractor only to use due care in supervising a subcontractor. *Id.* *Fields* stands for the proposition that a general contractor is not automatically liable for the work of its subcontractors. *Id.* Instead, it must be proven that the general contractor breached a duty of care in providing supervision and oversight.

Based upon the verbatim quotations of Randy Still's deposition testimony set forth in Marick's Memorandum in Opposition to HNS's and Upstate's Motions for Summary Judgment, a question of fact exists concerning whether Marick breached its duty to supervise and provide oversight. (R. pp. 434-458.)

1. UNCLEAN HANDS

The lower court's Order held, "that there is no genuine issue of material fact that Marick has at least some fault for the construction defects alleged." (R. pp. 7.) Thus, the lower court effectively found as a matter of law in the case, at the summary judgment stage, that Marick has unclean hands.

The Court's holding was in error as Marick did provide evidence that Marick did not breach a duty or obligation.

¹ The lower court did not follow the Supreme Court's holding in *Fields* as Judge McCauley stated at the hearing "if it [Marick] was doing its job, it [Marick] would have discovered the defect, I guess would be the - - or defective workmanship. All right. I find that under the concept of equitable relief that the equitable indemnity would be denied and the motion for summary judgment granted." (R. pp. 168.) Thus, the lower court effectively ruled that indeed the general contractor is automatically liable for the negligence of a subcontractor.

Marick's Memorandum in Opposition to Summary Judgment, Pages 7-9 specifically cite verbatim Randy Still's deposition testimony (no objection was made by counsel for HNS or Upstate concerning the authenticity of the cited excerpts from Randy Still's deposition):

Q: ... For clarification, just because there is an item on your scope of repair which you believe needs some modification or repair, does that, in your opinion, mean that Marick, my client, your client, breached any duty or obligation?

A: I don't think so, no.

Q: And, in fact, there are items on your scope of repair for Phase I which Marick did not build?

A: That is correct.

Q: And do you believe that Marick breached any obligation in its—or construction obligations in Phase I?

A: No.

(R. pp. 440-441.)

Q: And additionally there have been repairs and modifications to Phase II which are now no longer original construction but you've included those in your repair scope as well?

A: That is correct.

Q: But that does not mean, and it is not your opinion that inclusion in your repair scope means or should imply that you believe Marick did something wrong; correct?

A: That is correct.

(R. pp. 441.)

Q: Do you believe that Marick violated any obligation, whether it be through a contract document, manufacturer's installation instructions, code or any other obligation regarding the installation of the low slope roofs in Phase I?

A: No.

(R. pp. 441.)

Q: In your opinion is it fair—is it acceptable for a general contractor to rely on that experience and education of a subcontractor in a particular trade?

A: I think in many cases he has to.

(R. pp. 441-442.)

Q: I may have asked this but let me ask it another way: If Marick did not do any exterior construction in Phase I, do you have an opinion based on the inspections, investigation and your knowledge of the facts and allegations in this case whether Marick violated any code section?

A: I don't see how he could have, because the conditions we found only occurred after extensive destructive testing occurred.

Q: Do you believe that Marick violated any code in the installation of the weather-resistant barrier in Phase II? And I'm specifying Marick. Did Marick violate any code in the installation of the weather-resistant barrier in Phase II?

A: No, I'm not aware he installed any WRB.

(R. pp. 442.)

Q: Do you believe or do you have an opinion that Marick violated any code, manufacturers' instructions, design drawings in the installation of the cedar shake and plank siding in Phase II?

A: No.

Q: Do you have any opinion that Marick violated any code, manufacturers' installation instructions, design drawings or any other obligation in the installation of the doors and windows in Phase II?

A: I am not aware that he installed any of those components.

Q: Is that a "no"?

A: No.

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