THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM OCONEE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Alexander S. Macaulay, Presiding Judge Seventh Judicial Circuit

Appellate Case No.: 2012-213237

Stoneledge at Lake Keowee Owners' Association, Inc., C. Dan Carson, Jeffrey J. Dauler, Joan W. Davenport, Michael Furnari, Donna Furnari, Jessie B. Grasso, Nancy E. Grasso, Robert P. Hayes, Lucy H. Hayes, Ty Hix, Jennifer D. Hix, Paul W. Hund, III, Ruth E. Isaac, Michael D. Plourde, Mary Lou Plourde, Carol C. Pope, Steven B. Taylor, Bettie J. Taylor, and Robert White, Individually, and on behalf of all others similarly situated, Plaintiffs,

v.

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

ARGUMENT

I. Marick Cannot Challenge For The First Time On Appeal The Circuit Court's Decision To Collapse All Of Its Cross-Claims Into One Claim For Equitable Indemnity Because Marick Conceded This Issue On Summary Judgment, The Circuit Court Relied On That Concession When Granting Summary Judgment In Favor Of HNS, And Marick Never Asked The Circuit Court To Reconsider That Decision.

Marick cannot appeal the circuit court's decision to collapse its cross-claims into one claim for equitable indemnity because this issue was not preserved: Marick conceded that collapse was appropriate and never sought reconsideration when the circuit court granted summary judgment in reliance on that concession. Marick cannot challenge that decision for the first time on appeal.

A. Marick Conceded The Merits Of The Collapsing Argument In The Circuit Court.

The transcript of oral argument on Upstate and HNS's motions reveals that despite multiple opportunities, Marick never disputed that its cross-claims should be collapsed into one equitable indemnity claim. Although both Upstate and HNS began their arguments by urging the court to collapse the separately-denominated cross-claims in Marick's complaint, (R. p. 0151, l. 24; R. p. 0153, l. 9; R. p. 0162, ll. 16-19), Marick bypassed that issue altogether and focused on defending the merits of its equitable indemnity claim against the unclean hands and special relationship arguments raised in HNS and Upstate's motions, (R. p. 0157, l. 19; R. p. 0158, l. 1; R. p. 0160, ll. 3-11). Marick later couched its claim as "an equitable cause of action," (R. p. 0161, ll. 19-21), and never corrected the observation by Upstate's counsel that Marick "has agreed that all his claims are truly equitable indemnity . . . ," (R. p. 0165, ll. 12-13). As final confirmation, the circuit court questioned Marick's counsel before announcing its ruling:

The Court: All right. The issue on the cross claim of course is equitable indemnity, is that correct?

Marick's Counsel: On this one, yes, Your Honor.

(R. p. 0168, ll. 7-9).⁵

South Carolina law is clear that “[a] litigant cannot concede an issue at trial and then raise it on appeal.” *CFRE, LLC v. Greenville County Assessor*, 395 S.C. 67, 81, 716 S.E.2d 877, 885 (2011)(citing *Southern Ry. v. Routh*, 161 S.C. 328, 333, 159 S.E. 640, 642 (1930)). Once an issue has been conceded to the circuit court, it is procedurally barred from consideration on appeal. *Ex parte McMillan*, 319 S.C. 331, 335, 461 S.E.2d 43, 45 (1995). A concession may be as overt as Marick’s in this case, or it may simply be “fail[ure] to properly contest” an issue by only vaguely mentioning it to the circuit court. *Tupper v. Dorchester County*, 326 S.C. 318, 324, 487 S.E.2d 187, 191 (1997). In either case, a conceded issue is not an appealable issue.

Even if Marick takes the position that its concession was inadvertent (although the transcript certainly suggests it was measured), Marick still had ample opportunity to recalibrate its position. Although the circuit court announced at the conclusion of oral argument on September 5, 2012, that it intended to rule against Marick on summary judgment “under the concept of equitable relief,” (R. p. 0137, ll. 4-6), the written order was not entered until almost three weeks later, (R. pp. 0001-0009). This Court has made clear that “[u]ntil written and entered, the judge retains discretion to change his mind and amend his oral ruling accordingly” even when (as here) the court directed a party’s

⁵ Even Marick’s written opposition memorandum fails to mention the collapsing issue. (R. pp. 0434-0458).

lawyer to prepare a proposed order pursuant to Rule 58(a), SCRPC. *Doe v. Doe*, 324 S.C. 492, 501-502, 478 S.E.2d 854, 859 (Ct. App. 1996). If Marick wanted to retract its concession before the court's ruling was final, it had several weeks to do so. Moreover, even after the order was entered on September 25, 2012, Marick could have – and indeed should have – resolved its challenges to the court's findings by filing a Rule 59(e) motion.

B. The Collapsing Issues Were Not Preserved For Appellate Review Because Marick Failed To File A Rule 59(e) Motion To Reconsider.

To the extent Marick disagreed with the court's finding that Marick “acknowledged that equitable indemnification was the only claim at issue,” (R. p. 0005), “the proper procedure for correcting factual errors in an order is to file a Motion to Alter or Amend pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRPC,” *Doe*, 324 S.C. at 501-502, 478 S.E.2d at 859. “The losing party must first try to convince the lower court it has ruled wrongly and then, if that effort fails, convince the appellate court that the lower court erred.” *I'On, LLC v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000); *Pelican Bldg. Centers of Horry-Georgetown, Inc. v. Dutton*, 311 S.C. 56, 60, 427 S.E.2d 673, 675 (1993)(“We note that Rule 59(e), SCRPC, provides for a motion to alter or amend judgment and preserve the record for appeal.”). Only issues “fairly and properly raised to the lower court and passed upon by that court” can be appealed. *State v. Oxner*, 391 S.C. 132, 134, 705 S.E.2d 51, 52 (2011)(internal quotations omitted).

This Court has made clear that it “will not consider issues on appeal which have not been preserved for appellate review.” *Ulmer v. Ulmer*, 369 S.C. 486, 490, 632 S.E.2d 858, 861 (2006). The issue preservation requirement ensures that the circuit court has the

opportunity “to rule properly after it has considered all relevant facts, law, and arguments,” *I'on*, 338 S.C. at 422, 526 S.E.2d at 724, and provides this Court “with a platform for meaningful appellate review,” *Herron v. Century BMW*, 395 S.C. 461, 465, 719 S.E.2d 640, 642 (2011). *See also Myers v. Myers*, 391 S.C. 308, 321, 705 S.E.2d 86, 93 (Ct. App. 2011) (finding that factual error was not preserved for appellate review because the appellant failed to raise any issues regarding the court’s factual findings in his Rule 59(e), SCRCP, motion); *Arnal v. Arnal*, 363 S.C. 268, 609 S.E.2d 821 (Ct. App. 2005) (finding wife's failure to raise family court's exclusion of parcel of land from marital estate in a Rule 59(e) motion precluded review of the issue on appeal).

“There is no error preservation exception allowing a party to bypass calling an erroneous ruling to the attention of the tribunal making it before appealing that ruling to a higher court.” *Oxner*, 391 S.C. at 134, 705 S.E.2d at 52 (affirming dismissal of the appeal because the appellant failed to move for reconsideration of a *sua sponte* ruling in the circuit court before appealing the ruling and thus “failed to preserve any issue related to that ruling for our appellate review”).⁶ Recently, this Court emphasized the need for issue preservation even when a litigant disagrees with the circuit court’s finding that a particular argument was not presented for decision (or, in this case, was conceded). In *Caldwell v. Wiquist*, 402 S.C. 565, 741 S.E.2d 583 (Ct. App. 2013), this Court found that

⁶ Nor can Marick justify its decision to bypass Rule 59(e) in favor of initiating this appeal by contending that it was unaware of, or surprised by, the circuit court’s reliance on its concession. *Pelican*, 311 S.C. at 60, 427 S.E.2d at 675 (rejecting the appellant’s assertion that his failure to object in the circuit court was due to the fact that he was unaware until he received the written order that the respondent would be granted a new trial as to damages only if appellant failed to accept the additur). The proposed order (drafted by HNS at the circuit court’s request) referenced the concession, and when HNS submitted the proposed order to the circuit court for review, HNS also forwarded a copy to Marick for “review and comment.” (*See R. pp. 0487-0495*).

Wiquist was procedurally barred on appeal from arguing the merits of her contention that evidence of fraud or collusion required reversal of the circuit court's decision. *Caldwell*, 402 S.C. at 576-77, 741 S.E.2d 589-90. Wiquist failed to seek Rule 59(e) reconsideration of the circuit court's finding that she "ma[de] no allegation of either fraud or collusion as ground for [decision]," and her preservation failure precluded appellate argument. *Id.* Similarly, Marick cannot challenge the merits of the circuit court's decision to collapse its cross-claims because it never sought Rule 59(e) reconsideration when the circuit court found Marick had conceded that issue.

Marick attempts to employ the very strategy repeatedly prohibited by the South Carolina Supreme Court. Marick cannot keep "an ace card up [its] sleeve—intentionally or by chance—in the hope that an appellate court will accept that ace card and, via a reversal, give [it] another opportunity to prove [its] case." *I'On*, 338 S.C. at 422, 526 S.E.2d at 724-25.

II. Alternatively, Even If This Court Reaches The Merits Of The Circuit Court's Decision To Collapse Marick's Claims, That Decision Was Proper Because All Of Marick's Cross-Claims Sound In Equitable Indemnity.

Even if this Court reaches the merits of the circuit court's collapsing decision, it was proper for the circuit court to treat all of Marick's cross-claims as equitable indemnity – Marick's breach of warranty, negligence, and breach of contract causes of action were merely equitable indemnity claims by another name. (R. p. 0005; R. pp. 0103-0110). Marick sought no separate damages for its cross-claims – the damages sought were the damages to which Marick was exposed if plaintiffs were to prevail on their claims against Marick. (R. pp. 0103-0110, ¶¶ 158, 162, 167, 174; R. p. 0151, l. 24 -

p. 0152, l. 12).⁷ It is significant that Marick's cross-claims originated as third-party indemnity claims whereby Marick impleaded HNS and Upstate into the action.

It is well-established that “[i]ndemnity is that form of compensation which a first party is liable to pay a second party for a loss or damage the second party incurs to a third party.” *Vermeer Carolinas, Inc. v. Wood/ChuckChipper Corp.*, 336 S.C. 53, 61, 518 S.E. 2d 301, 305 (Ct. App. 1999); see also *Town of Winnsboro v. Wiedeman – Singleton, Inc.*, 303 S.C. 52, 56, 398 S.E. 2d 500, 502 (Ct. App. 1990). That Marick named its claims “breach of contract,” “negligence” and “breach of warranty” is not determinative. Rather, it is the “nature of the issues and remedies which are sought” that reveal the true allegations. *State v. Yelsen Land Co.*, 257 S.C. 401, 403, 185 S.E. 2d 897, 899 (1972); *Seebaldt v. First Federal Sav. & Loan Ass’n.*, 269 S.C. 691, 692; 239 S.E. 2d 726, 727 (1977). “The character of an action is not to be determined by the terminology which the pleader may choose to give it. On the contrary, [it] is fixed by the events which the pleaders have recited.” *Walsh v. Evans*, 112 S.C. 131, 131, 99 S.E. 546, 548 (1919). Here, all of Marick's claims against HNS and Upstate sought the same damages for which Marick could have been liable to the plaintiffs.⁸

⁷ When HNS and Upstate settled all of the direct claims brought by Stoneledge and the other plaintiffs against them, Marick lost the ability to use HNS and Upstate as a shield, further exposing the true nature of Marick's cross-claims against them.

⁸ Marick attempts to justify its assertion of additional claims against HNS by pointing out that it sought attorney fees and costs in addition to indemnification, citing *Addy v. Bolton*, 275 S.C. 28, 183 S.E.2d 708 (1971) in support. (Appellants Final Brief, pp. 7-8). But *Addy* does not salvage Marick's claims from collapse into one claim for indemnity, nor does *Addy* support Marick's assertion that attorney fees and costs in an indemnity action can be sought via concurrent claims for breach of warranty, breach of contract, and negligence. *Addy* answered only the “single question” of whether attorney fees can be recovered **in an indemnity action** “in the absence of an express contract of

To resolve the procedural quandary presented by indemnity claims in disguise, other courts have collapsed improperly-denominated claims into one indemnity cause of action. See, e.g., R. pp. 0408-0411 (Order in *Nelson v. John Weiland Home*, 2009-CP-10-6573) and R. pp. 0412-0421, (Order in *Kirkland v. Cambridge Bldg. Corp.*, 2006-CP-07-1312). See also *U.S. Fidelity & Guaranty Co. v. Patriot's Point Dev't Auth.*, 788 F. Supp. 880, 881, n.1. (D.S.C. 1992)(rejecting non-settling defendants' argument that their cross-claims against a settling co-defendant were "independent claims" and finding the claims were "nothing more than claims for indemnity" because they would not exist "without plaintiff suing the non-settling defendants"); *S.C. National Bank v. Stone*, 749 F. Supp. 1419, 1433 (D.S.C. 1990)(finding cross-claims against settling defendants for breach of contract, negligence, and fraud to be "nothing more than claims for contribution or indemnification with a slight change in wording" because "a rose by any other name is still a rose"). It appears that the South Carolina Supreme Court has acknowledged – at least implicitly – that equitable indemnification is the only true claim when an indemnitee brings concurrent claims for breach of contract and negligence. In *First Gen. Servs. of Charleston, Inc. v. Miller*, 314 S.C. 439, 432, 445 S.E.2d 446, 447 (1994), the court

indemnity.” *Addy*, 275 S.C. at 33, 183 S.E.2d at 710. The South Carolina Supreme Court concluded that an indemnitee may recover attorney fees when the wrongdoer’s negligence is equitably imputed to the indemnitee by operation of law instead of by contract – provided of course that “no personal fault of the indemnitee has joined in causing the injury.” *Addy*, 275 S.C. at 33, 183 S.E.2d at 710. *Addy* does not authorize an indemnitee to bring separate breach of contract and negligence claims alongside its indemnity claim. Rather, the “*Addy* rule” clarified that expenses are recoverable under “[t]he law of equitable indemnification.” *Vermeer*, 336 S.C. at 61, 518 S.E.2d at 305. See also *Toomer v. Norfolk S. Ry. Co.*, 344 S.C. 486, 544 S.E.2d 634 (Ct. App. 2001) (citing *Addy* and holding that a special relationship giving rise to equitable indemnity can exist when the at-fault party’s negligence or breach of contract causes the non-faulting party to incur attorneys’ fees in defending itself).

addressed only a third-party plaintiff's indemnification claim without recognizing the breach of contract and negligence claims that were also alleged.

There is no reason for this Court to reach the merits of the circuit court's decision to treat all of Marick's cross-claims as one claim for indemnity, but even if it does, that decision was appropriate.

III. The Circuit Court Properly Granted Summary Judgment On Marick's Equitable Indemnity Cross-Claim Because Marick's Unclean Hands Prohibited Recovery.

Summary judgment was warranted in favor of HNS on Marick's sole claim against it for equitable indemnity. South Carolina law is clear that a party can only recover in equitable indemnity if the party is without fault:

Ordinarily, if one person is compelled to pay damages because of negligence imputed to him as the result of a tort committed by another, he may maintain an action over for indemnity against the person whose wrong has thus been imputed to him. *Atlantic Coast Line R.R. v. Whetstone*, 243 S.C. 61, 132 S.E.2d 172 (1963). This is subject to the proviso that no personal negligence of his own has joined in causing the injury. *Id.*

Vermeer, 336 S.C. at 60-61, 518 S.E. 2d at 305.

Marick was not free of fault, and Marick's unclean hands pretermitted its right to equitable indemnification. As outlined below, Marick conceded that it was obligated to supervise and oversee its sub-contractors, (R. p. 0158, ll. 10-15), and the circuit court had before it uncontroverted testimony from three affiants setting forth Marick's failure to fulfill that duty, (R. pp. 0464-0469; R. pp. 0470-0475; R. pp. 0476-0480; R. pp. 0481-0486; *see also* R. p. 0165, ll. 2-7; R. p. 0167, ll. 20-23). Marick failed to produce even a scintilla of evidence that it was entitled to maintain an equitable indemnity claim.

A. The Summary Judgment Standard

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